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Interview with VI. Emerson \iilson, retlred newspaperman, on March 29, 1974, in his 
home at 22 Boulder Brook Drive, Wilmington, Delaware, by Steven Schoenherr. 

Q If you could start by explalning when you first became involved in journalism. 

A I was a student at the University of Delaware and went on foreign study in my 
senior year with the understanding that I would have a job with the DuPont 
Company in their foreign relations department when I came back from France. 
But I went in 1929, and in 1930 when I came back the DuPont Company told me 
that they were not hiring anybody, they were dropping employees they already 
had. So I was a member of Theta Chi fraternity down at the University of 
Delaware and Tom Lewis was--or Jim Lewis, rather, was director of advertising 
for the Hearst publications, and I wrote to him and asked him if I couldn't 
get a job with him, after I'd tried a number,of other things. And he sent me 
back a letter of introduction to A .• O. H. Gr,er, who was the editor of the 
Every Evening, and under whom he had started work. So I took the letter into 
the Every Evening, and while I was waiting to see Greer, I talked to Harry-­
well, the name will come to me, but he was city editor at the time ••• 

Q Samonisky? 

A Samonisky, of course. Harris Samonisky. And he was a University of Delaware 
graduate and he questioned me and said did I want to get into newspaper work, 
and I said yes, and he said, "Hhat experience did you have?" Hell, I said, 
I had been editor of the Review at Delaware and in Paris I had worked two 
weeks on the Chicago Tribune and New York Daily News, Parisilldition. Now the 
big paper in Paris was of course the New York Herald, but in those days the 
Chicago Tribune had a full-sized American newspaper in Paris, too. And he 
said, "!..Jell, we don't have any openings," but he said, "I'll keep you in mind." 
But I insisted on seeing A.O.H. Grfer, and he told me that it wouldn't do me a 
bit of good. I went in and saw A. O. H. Gr,er and he said, 'OW ell, it's very nice 
to hear from .Jim Lewis, but we don It have any openings." So I waited for a 
couple of weeks and Samonisky called me and said, "I understand there's an open­
ing on the Morning News. Try John Malley, who is the city editor." So I went 
dmm to the Morning News, saw John l1alley, and he said he had just hired some­
body to fill that vacancy. But he questioned me and said, '~ell, we might 
have something for you later." So about a week later he called up i'l.nd said 
that one of the reporters was sick, I could work for the D.S.E.A. Delaware 
State Education Association was having its convention in Newark, so would I 
go down and cover that for the Morning News. And so I said I'd be glad to. 
We~l, it just so happened that while I was covering that I ran into George 
Br,nton, who was director of foreign studies, and of course I knew [him] very 
well, and he told me the University of Delaware was going to start new foreign 
study courses in Spain and Switzerland and Germany. So I went back and wrote 
the D.S.E.A. story and also gave 'em this story about the extension of the 
University of Delaware foreign study. It impressed the managing editor, Charlie 
Gray, very much that a new man should come back with a big front page story as 
well as the assignment he was on. So they said they would keep me in mind and 
whenever a reporter got sick, why I filled in for him, substituted for him, un­
til the first of December when they called me in and told me that Harry Price, 
the assistant city editor, was going down to cover the legislature, which in 
those days met for sixty days, and they would need somebody to take his place. 
So he would leave January the first, but I could go on December 1st to get used 
to his work. 
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Q Hha t year was thi s? 

A This was 1930. I'd gotten back from France in August, 1930, and this was 
December, 1930. So I started out on the Morning News as assistant city editor. 
Then they told me that when Harry Price came back from the legislature I would 
be dropped. But when Harry Price did come back from the legislature in April, 
John Leary had been taken ill and was in the hospital, so I was to become a 
reporter in his place until he recovered. However, he was from Boston and 
when he recovered he returned to Boston and I became a regular reporter. And 
in those days by the way there were only four desk men and four reporters. 
Now the Morning News alone has--and no photographers--the Morning News alone 
has about fifty reporters and twelve photographers. Well, I don't want to say 
alone because they were entirely separate papers in those days; now they're 
joint. They were both in the same building--the Every Evening and the Morning 
News. There were four desk men, the city editor and the assistant city editor, 
and the telegraph editor and the assistant telegraph editor. And then there 
were four reporters, and that was the whole staff of the paper. Of course there 
was the managing editor and the sports editor. 

Q How were the reporters' responsibilities divided? 

A Well, one reporter covered only police. Another reporter covered only the 
courts, both federal and county courts. And the other two reporters covered 
city offices--one covered city offices and county offices, and the other one 
covered the Chamber of Commerce and various--well, in those days you checked 
all the big companies for new contracts and so forth. So that's how they were 
split up. I remember the night that the Lindburgh baby was kidnapped. That 
day, .John Hill, one of the reporters, was sick. So we only had three reporters 
covering the whole city. Hhen I reported to work at 2:00 the city editor said 
there was the biggest fire in history in Penns Grove. So the police reporter, 
Clyde Young, was sent over to Penns Grove. And that left two to cover the city, 
and one of them had to cover police. And so I was left to cover everything in 
the city except police. And it wasn't until that night that the Lindburgh kid­
napping story broke, which didn't affect the reporters at all, but upset the 
desk men no end because of the stories coming in. But anyhow, with all the 
excitement that day, I did fail on one story--the Journal got it. So instead 
of saying that I had done a good job covering the whole city by myself, I got 
bawled out for missing that one story. Hell then in 1933 the Every Evening 
went out of business, or it was absorbed by the News Journal Company, and that 
meant an enlargement of the staff and quite a change--reorganization. But it 
gave us five reporters, as I recall. Then the HPA came in. And we had been 
working--we went to work in those days, before the VIPA, at 2:00 in the after­
noon and worked right through 'til 1:00 in the morning except for every third 
day when you had late police, so instead of going off at 1:00 a.m., you went 
off at 4:00 a.m.--and you worked from 2:00 p.m. 'til 4:00 a.m. And my salary 
for the first six months was $20.00 a week. And after that I was raised to 
$25.00 a week. But then the Depression was coming at its height~J so we were 
all given a 10% cut from the president down, so I got $23.50 a week. Oh/ by 
the ,-fay, before that they--under Hoover, who would not allow any federal l-fel­
fare funds, they had the r-1ayor' s Unemployment Committee so they took 1;0 of 
your salary out for that. A bout that time, Heywood Broun came down to ~v ilming­
ton to try to form a guild. And I was elected treasurer. Lee Reese, who 
you know later became president of the company, was a desk man in those days 
on the Evenin~ Journal, he was the president. 
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Q Hhat were your impressions of Heywood Broun? i'ihat kind of man was he? 

A Well, quite an impressive guy with a lot of humor, but very serious in the 
need for reporters to organize. And he had just one meeting, the initial meet­
ing with him, and. there were other guild organizers. Now the guilds by the 
way became kind of a social organization in which we had dances and so forth 
and organized to try to get better working conditions. But our committee would 
be respectfully heard by the president and then completely ignored. Then the 
WPA, which provided for a five-day week, five-day, forty-hour week for reporters, 
but not for executives, and then the question was for a long time who was an ex­
ecuti ve and. who wasn't. \"Thy that was declared unconstitutional. So the day 
that we carried the story in the paper about the Supreme Court decision, the 
managing editor called me in and said with a--who was an executive, of course-­
with a broad grin on his face, ''Well, P.r. Wilson," he said, "starting tomorrow 
you will come back to work at 2:00 and work 'til 4:00 a.m., and we'll have no 
more of this damn foolishness of days off and so forth." And he said, "That's 
the bad news. But the good news for you is that you will be raised $1.00 a 
week. " So I was indignant. I said. "Thank you for nothing." And so I imme­
diately said that the guild should call a strike. Lee Reese in the meantime 
had been promoted from a desk man to an executive. And Elmer Cunningham, who 
later was managing editor for the Journal (well, the Journal Every Evening, I 
should say) was the head of the guild. And I went to him, and I said, "Call a 
meeting at once to decide whether we should have a strike." He said, "No, first 
you've got to get a majority of the members to say they want a meeting." So I 
went around with a paper thinking I'd get unanimous signatures, and I only got 
three members who were willing to call a meeting to discuss it. They were all 
disgusted, but they didn't want to do anything. So I immediately resigned as 
treasurer of the guild and have never had anything to do with it since. And 
the Whole guild collapsed immediately. There've been efforts to resuscitate 
it since, but they never have been able to. 

Q lJhy do you think there was this lack of interest in organization? 

A Well, I was a young single man with no responsibilities. And most of the others 
were married and it was really tough times, and they were scared stiff of a 
strike. But why they didn't take any action, not even a protest, I'll never 
know. I'Jell, I was--I covered police for a while and was in on that--the big 
scandal. I broke the first story on the scandal in which--that resulted in 
the superintendent of police being fired and the captain of police. 

Q What scandal was this? 

A Do you want me at this time to go into that detail? 

Q Hell, just briefly. It's probably been written about--just what year it was, 
and ••• 

A It was 1936, in the very early part of 1936. There was a whorehouse at 811 
Tatnall Street, operated by Edna POHell. And I came to work on a Sunday morn­
ing and. a cop said, "All hell's broken loose. There was a murder in Edna's 
last night." Now the thing was that all of the houses of prostitution in Wil­
mington were paying protection money to the superintendent of police. 

Q i'iho was at that time? 
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A George Black. And when I first started covering police, I COUldn't understand 
all the big stories were held for the reporter on the Journal, and I COUldn't 
get a hold of--of course if there was a fire, you went to a fire, but I mean 
an inside investigation or something like that. I never got word of it, but 
the Journal reporter always got it. ~Iell, we found out during the investiga­
tion that he was the bagman for the superintendent. He went around and col­
lected the money for him. 

Q \~ho was that? 

A George Stengal. 

Q O.K. So you got involved in reporting that? 

A Yes. I reported the original murder and all the details, and then it grad­
ually blew up until they got the superintendent of police in it. And the 
captain of police, his son, George Black, Jr., they brought out that he used 
to call Edna Powell's and ask her to send up a case of beer at 3:00 a.m. in 
the morning. And he and the cops around the police station would drink this 
beer and then have the nerv~ to call her up and ask her to come up and pick up 
the empties. Hell, this was a tremendous investigation. It went over weeks 
and even months and resulted in a complete reorganization of the department. 
They brought in Andrew Cavanaugh, who was the superintendent of police in Miami, 
Plorida, but had retired and so forth--he wasn't an old man, but he'd put in 
enough years there. So he came to Hilmington as superintendent of police. 
And they closed all the houses of prostitution. Up until then they had been 
running openly. 

Hell, after that, I became a political reporter. 

Q Did you get any sort of reward for this job? I mean, this was sort of over 
and above--a little extra reporting on your part, wasn't it? 

A Well, I was covering police and all this was happening on the police beat, 
so •••• But, well, I didn't get any bonus or anything, but I got recognition 
and they said--well, I had gone into the intricacies of the situation fairly 
well, so it might be a good idea to transfer me from police to politics. So 
I was assigned to cover Democratic politics. So then that became my strong 
point. Now in those days they never gave anyone a byline unless it was an 
outstanding story. Nowadays every story in the paper has a byline on it. But 
it was world-shaking if you got a byline in those days. And I got the Governor 
McMullin--well this was in 1941, I got my first byline. Gov. Richard C. McMul­
lin was nominated to run for reelection, but he was taken ill, he had a heart 
attack. The Democrats referred to it as a case of influenza and nobody knew 
anything that it was serious. But they held a secret meeting and decided that 
McMullin couldn't run for governor, and Jesiah Marvel (sp?) would run in his 
place. So I got this story and broke it. I'd been tipped off by some friends 
and so forth. And I got my first byline on that. Then I covered the Demo­
cratic state conventions, which were really out of this world, all the finagling 
tha t went on. They used. to hold them in the old Hotel Richardson down in Dover, 
and there would be candidates for various offices. And they would have suites 
in the hotel--the hotel is long-gone--where the liquor flowed like rivers. 
And vrell, there 1-rere all kinds of--the night before a convention, Dover was 
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really something, in those days. It was 1942 was the most eXcitin£::::~tion. 
There were two factions running then among the Democrats. Ennals' - -~ 
was running for the United States Senate. He was a very prominent and very 
wealthy lawyer. He and Je.siah Harvel were the leaders of the conservative fac­
tion of the Democratic party. Hell in Democratic politics there's--Ivan Cul­
bertson and Garrett Lyons were mavericks of the Democratic party who were fight­
ing the conservatives at the time. And actually, when you look back on it in 
Hoosevelt's day and the liberals and so forth, you would think that conserva­
tives would be something to be looked down upon. But they were the honest men 
of the Democratic party. Garrett Lyons, who was city chairman of Wilmington, 
for instance, later became state chairman. In the 1942 election, which was 
very close, I know that he .. rent to Chester, and in those days you had absentee 
ballots, and he got 2,000 absentee ballots and forged the notary public's seals 
on them and sealed them and then on election day, he took them to the clerk of 
the peace, who was a Democrat, and they were distributed to the polls. But 
some of these judges of election thought this was an unusual number in their 
election district that never had an absentee ballot suddenly would get 20 or 
30; they were suspicious. And they looked closely at these notary public 
seals and saw they were forged and called the attorney general and there was a 
tremendous investigation and Garrett Lyons and the clerk of the peace were ar­
rested for election fraud. And it certainly was a fraud. Well, they went be­
fore the court and, well, I'm getting ahead of myself. I should say--well, 
let's straighten it out. They went before the court and the court decided-­
their lawyers claiming that the law was unconstitutional--and the Supreme Court 
decided that the absentee ballot law the way it was written was unconstitutional. 
So the charges were dropped, 'cause you couldn't violate an unconstitutional 
law, although there was no question but what they did violate it. But I Sh01Ud 
say that earlier in one of these meetings of the state committee at Dover, 
Lyons had made a speech and John Hazard" who was a leader of the Democrats 
from~iilmington, got up after Lyons sat down and said, ''Don't believe a word 
that fellow said. There's not--he's a liar, there never was a worc1 of truth 
in anything he said." So I went back to Wilmington and wrotetexactly what 
Hazards said and even added to it that Hazar~speech was ~eted with cheers 
and boos both. Well, the next morning when r'came to work, the city editor, 
who was Carl Wise, was in a state of flux. He said, "Emmie, you've got us in 
a terribl~_~am. YOU'll have to go see the preSident," who was Joslin, Harry -rl , .. ,,t~'Fe 
F. JoslinL~not wait a minute; I forget Joslin's first name--l should know 'VS;~L .. ·~" 
it--who had been private secretary to President Hoover and had come to the News 
Journal as president of the company. So we went in to see the president, Jos-
iin, and he said, "Young man, do you realize that you and this paper are being 
sued for one million dollars for libel?" And he says--and I thought, "My God:" 
And he said, ''Did Jack Hazard\ call Garrett I,yons a liar and say that there 
never was a word of truth in him?" J said, "He certainly did." And he said, 
"'1 ell , we're in trouble." I said, "It's the truth." And he said, "The truth 
can be libel." I said, "I never knew that." 1{ell, he says, "So our attorney 
tell s us." And I call ed up Jack Hazard" and he said, "1' 11 go on the stand and 
prove that Garrett Lyons has always been a liar." So he says, "The truth will 
help you in your case." vlell, the case dragged on and it was dropped immediately 
when Lyons was arrested fer election fraud, because he couldn't come into court 
with clean hands in that case. Then this Lyons, who by the way Bill F'rank might 
have mentioned to you. • • 

q No, he didn't. 
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A This Lyons, when the war carne on, he and another man started a company here in 
Delaware making munitions. And he became a millionaire. By the way, at that 
time--let me say that in 1944 he started a (I think it was '44), he started a 
liberal, a third party called the Liberal Democrats. And this was financed by 
Jim Ellison, who gave him the money, it was brought out in the investigation ••• 

Q How do you spell Ellison? 

A E-l-l-i-s-o-n, Austin Ellison, known as Big Jim and who was the real political 
boss of the Republican party in Delaware, and who looked like Mayor Daley and 
talked and acted like Mayor Daley, and who was really a wonderful guy, not the 
kind of a crook that Lyons was. Hell, Jim Ellison slipped Lyons this money to 
start the Liberal Democratic party, hoping that they would draw enough votes 
away to elect the Republican party. Hell, they did not succeed, but that ended 
Lyons' role in the Democratic party, until the war carne on, and at the end of 
the war he became a--he was a millionaire. And after the war, by this time 
in the 1950's, a lot of people had forgotten what happened in 1930. And he 
started contributing large sums of money to the Democratic party and actually 
was made state chairman of the Democratic party. Now I had filed as a Democrat, 
registration,but when he became chairman of the Democratic party, I changed my 
party designation. But anyhow, I'm getting far afield. 

Q He's not living now, is he? 

A No, he died some time ago, oh, in the 1960's. 

Q O.K. So in the '40's you were a political reporter. 

A I was a political reporter. And then • 

Q May I ask you, did the newspaper change in your perception during the war, 
Horld Har II? Did it grow in size, or •• 

A Oh, yes, yes. And of course, one thing tha t--we used to put out a number of 
extras for a big announcement of anything. And we put out extras for Pearl 
Harbor. But after that, because of radio, extras were no longer needed. And 
that was one of the big things that occurred then. l~tting out an extra was a 
lot of fun, but we never put out one I don't think after Pearl Harbor, I'm 
sure we didn't because everybody was listening to the radio. Hell, in 1939 I 
was assigne:l to the legislature, to cover the legislature. And there I learned 
a lot. Oh, that 1939 session was the year that the big matter was a bill to 
allow the showing of movies on Sunday t which was fought tooth ani nail by the 
churches. Ordinarily the legislature had sixty days; after sixty days the mem­
bers of the legislature were not paid. But in this case they recessed 'til 
the summer, not beine able to arrive at a--to get the bill passed or to get it 
actually killed. So they met the last week in August and the first in Septem­
ber, and of course the bill eventUally in September did pass. But one vivid. 
memory that I have of that legislative session was on September the 1st, 1939, 
the members of the house would meet and argue for oh, 15 minutes or so and 
then recess so as to go listen to the radio, because Hitler--that was the day 
that Hitler invaded Poland. And we were allan edge to find out whether Eng­
land and France would declare war the same day, see, which they didn't. They 
waited three days before they declared war. But that racing out to listen to 
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the radio, and the excitement of that day ••.• \Jell, after that we had the 
Hage and Hour Bill. He were on the 4O-hour week and got paid overtime and so 
forth. But the law did not affect executives. And the city editor was con­
sidered as an executive, and the managing editor, but the city editor thought 
that he ought to come under it. And he wanted his two days off. Everybody on 
the Morning News had Saturday off, but he worked on Sunday. So he finally got 
the company to agree that he should have a day off, too, and so they made me 
city editor on Sunday. Then for a while to switch around the people on the 
[inaudible}--he was the only actual executive that was affected, but anyhow I 
was city editor on Sunday, I was state editor on Monday, assistant state editor 
on Tuesday--these are all desk jobs, you understand--reporter on Vlednesday, 
assistant telegraph on Thursday, and telegraph editor on Friday. So I was a 
reporter one day a week. I just covered everything. They just switched me 
back and forth, see. So in that way I missed the 'In session of the legisla­
ture. And then '43 came along, they didn't have--they had a fellow, Charlie 
Rutledge, to send to the legislature who was--I had been covering Democratic 
politics, he was covering Republican politics. And so they weren't hard up 
for some body to cover the legi sla ture, experienced man to cover the legi sla ture, 
but by 1943 he was gone. And so they told me to cover the legislature in '43, 
which I did January 'til April. And then Carl vJise resigned as city editor 
and I became city editor in 1943. And for the next seventeen years I was city 
editor, which is an administrative job. You get no chance to write anything, 
except maybe headlines, and after a while writing headlines and reading copy 
and so forth becomes extremely boring. And it seems as if it took me a long 
time to decide, but after 17 years I was s:ick of the job. So I spoke to Lee 
Heese in '60 and said I'd like to have something else, and he said, "\{ell, 
there's gonna be a vacancy on the editorial_board," and in '61 I was assigned 
to the editorial board. And Martin Klaver Lsp?l was in charge of editorials. 
And I consider myself a liberal Democrat, a New-Dealer and everything. 

Q How do you spell Klaver again? 

A K-l-a-v-e-r. 

Q And he was head of the editorial department at that time. 

A Yeah. Now the paper had changed quite a bit. VJhen I started out as a reporter, 
it was extremely conservative. I had a terrible time getting into Democratic 
politics because the Democrats could never get any Democratic stories in the 
paper. But I proved that I could get Democratic stories in the paper. But by 
this time the paper was--well, to make a long story short, I didn't like edi­
torial writing either because Klaver would take what I considered an extreme 
liberal view on a subject. Now we would have a conference, and we'd decide 
what the editorial stand of the paper would be, with Klaver having the final 
say. And I was quite often in the minority, maybe the only objector to the 
stand, but the editorial would--not always, of course, but quite often it would 
be assigned to me to write an editorial that I didn't approve of at all. But 
the general gist of the editorial would have been worked out, see, at the con­
ference. And I was to write it. i-[ ell, thi s didn't suit me at all. And then 
Creed Black--so I was unhappy as an editorial writer. Then Creed Black came-­
and I should say that as city editor I had developed a--I'd gotten in touch 
with--and I hadn't done it--Iet's see; I can't think of a word. It just so 
happened that the books started coming in, novels and history and so forth, a 
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few, and I started reviewing them. Hell, I had started a column as city editor 
in which the staff contributed. It was a general staff' column because they 
wanted something in which they could express their opinion. 

Q Did the column have a title? 

A Yes, "Of This and That." And I wrote SOme things for it, but I started review­
ing the books in this column. And when I reviewed the first few books that 
came in, why other publishers heard about it and started sending me more books. 
Hell, Creed Black in 1962 was executive editor of the paper. And he said that, 
"I think we ought to develop a book review page." So he said, ''\{hat would you 
think if I gave you an office in which you were book review editor and developed 
this page." By the way, when I was an editorial writer, I was also writing 
feature stories, especially on preservation of old homes and so forth, which is 
my hobby. And he said, "You write historical features and write an editorial 
when you want to and submit it to Mr. Klaver, but you no longer have to come 
under M.r. Klaver's orders, you'll be on your own." So that's what developed, 
and for the last ten years, even--when Black left, why Chick Hackett came in 
as president and we stopped the page of book reviews and made it two daily re­
vievrs. And then I began writing an historical column which appears in the 
Horning News on Mondays, and I'm still keeping up since retirement--I mean on 
Saturdays, I'm still keeping it up since retirement. 

Q Have you always been interested in DelaWare history? 

A Oh, yes. 

Q Even as a young reporter? 

A That's right. Especially since 1950, when I--when a bunch of us from the 
paper started the F'ort Delaware SOCiety and I was elected as president and I 
started intensive research into Fort Delaware and then I started also research­
ing other old buildings. So for a time there--I guess I still am considered a 
fairly good authority on the history of old homes in Delaware. 

Q \';ho else was in this Fort Delaware Society? 

A Hell, Bill Frank, Lewis Reuben [sp?] was assistant telegraph--a young man, 
assistant telegraph editor, and he was from Charleston, South Carolina, and he 
was the most active one in getting it started. He by the way is now professor 
of creative writing at Chapel Hill, the University of North Carolina. He was-­
and he's written at least a dozen books on southern writers. And well therp. 
was Tom !vlalone who is still on the ,paper. and his brother .John Malone, and 
Dr. Henry Clay Reed, and Tony Higgfns. However, Tony and Bill helped me get 
things started, but they never took a very active part in the Fort Delaware 
Society. He nOH have 250 members and are quite active. 

Q Are you pIannlng to--is this the group planning to help renovate li'ort Delaware? 

-
A vlell, lie have. He have established a museum out there. You haven't been 

there I see. 
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Q No, I've been there, yes. It's in the process of being renovated, and I've 
seen the museum. 

II Hell, we don't want to restore the fort as is done in Hilliamsburg, but we 
wante(l to put the remaining windows back in and the stairways back in. And 
we're doing a room at a time, see. Now of course it's the state that's do­
ing it, but the Fort Delaware Society had to get down to the legislature 
and lobby to get funds for the fort, because the state park commission con­
siders it as the state park lowest on their totem pole because being on an 
island it had the least number of visitors. But we had to fight to get ap­
propriations for it, but well, that's another story. 

Now in the 1938 campaign, one of the things--well, even before that. In 1937 
I covered the Roosevelt-DuPont wedding. As a matter of fact, I came in as a 
reporter one Sunday and Carl Hise, the city editor, said, "Emmie, I got an as­
signment for you. I don't know what it is, but it sounds like it might be im­
portant. F~gene DuPont called and said he wanted a reporter and photographer 
to come out to his home on Owls Nest Road, that he had an important story," 
So he saY8, "You and Charlie Ma.l<::er better get out there as soon as possible." 
So we v18nt out to Owls Nest Road and we were greeted by !fl!'. DuPont, who 
showed us into the living room and then he said, "I want you to meet my daugh­
ter, Ethel, II and he says, "Here's Mr. Franklin D. Roosevelt, Jr." He says, 
"?<Irs. DuPont and I want to announce the engagement of our daughter to Hr. 
Roosevelt." So vTe took pictures and took the story and went back, and boy it 
was allover the country and the world the next day. That was one big story. 
Then of course vlhen Roosevel t--well, the wedding was the same year, 1937, and 
I covered the wedding from the time Roosevelt arrived until he left on the 
train at midnight. He was--all these important people were--I left the recep­
tion fairly early on orders to get back to the train, which was at Mont~anin 
Station, to check off the arrival at the train of each of the important'1.5eople. 
Now, !':c'Intyre, his secretary, came back to the hotel--Mrs. Roosevelt and 
Roo sev'el t ' s mother were the first to arrive, and they were very decorous, but 
this J>lcIntyre was high as a kite. And James Roosevelt and his gal he married 
later, they were feeling no pain when they arrived. Hell, it was fun. They 
finally--the train pulled out around 1:30. He covered the wedding at the 
Christ Church, and just as they were leaving, it started pouring rain, so the 
reception which--the house was a huge house, as you probably know, it's the 
Greenville Country Club now, was still not large enough to handle all the 
people, so they had tents on the lawn. But it was a pretty wet affair, with 
this rain. Then the next time, 1938, Roosevelt came back for the Swedish Ter­
centenary, and Frince Gustavus Adolphus, who was the crown prince and his 
wife were in a Swedish Ship out in the Delaware River, but Gustavus, who later 
became ki~, was taken ill and he couldn't attend, so he sent his son, Prince 
Bertel~J and Ber~ and Roosevelt attended the ceremonies down on--a~ Fort 
Christina Park. And then they had a reviewing stand in front of the Public 
Fuilding. But it just poured, it just poured all day long. And everybody 
thought, "f.1y God, did Roosevelt always bring rain to Delaware?" The wedding 
and that one attracted reporters from allover the country. They had a press 
room--the Grnl Room of the Hotel DuPont was the press room for out-of-state 
reporters. Then in 1938 Roosevelt. decided that he was going to purge the con­
servative Dcnocrats. And l::illard Tydings lias the senator from 14aryland. nho 
had voted against New Deal measures. So Roosevelt decided that he would sup­
port a congressman from ~~ryland named Lewis, as I recall, for the senatorship 
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in the Naryland primary. And he decided to tour the ~stern Shore i~ favor of 
Lewi s 's candidacy. \J ell tit was a di saster, because you can't tell ~astern 
1ihore Haryland people how to vote. Now, most of them were going to vote for 
him, but as far as they were concerned they'd pick their own senator. So I 
covered that tour. And I saw Roosevelt a number of times, but that's the only 
time I ever saw him in a bad hUmor. Oh, he was real burnt, because every place 
[they were] waving ¥aryland flags at him. And Tydings must have bought a mil­
lion l;!aryland flags. Every town he'd drive through, Naryland flags. And then 
he had this big meeting, rally, in B~aston, and everybody was polite and ap­
plauded him. But whenever he would say something about Lewis, they'd all--not 
all t no, but a large percentage had these Maryland flags that they would wave. 
And I was in the press box, right in back of Roosevelt, and Jim Farley was sit­
ting in back of Roosevelt, and he leaned over to me and said, "Have you heard 
hOH the Dodgers are making out today?" He says, "I'm a hell of a sight more 
interested in that than I am in this foolishness." And I didn't knoH hOH the 
Dodgers had made out, but I found out for him because some of the people in 
the press box had radios on which they were listening to the Dodgers' game. 

Q In the press box. 

1\ Urn hmm. 'rhey had portable radios. 

Q Did you ImoH the press secretary for Roosevelt, Stephen E:arly? 

A Yes, he Has here for the wedding. 

Q Do you have any recollections on hOi, Roosevelt handled the press? I mean, 
did he try to manipulate the press, do you think, through his secretary or 
through reporters? 

A No, I think he was frank, open and aboveboard, except of course he let out a 
lot of trial balloons, I think. And the press certainly attacked him as much 
as they attack Nixon, for that matter. All the papers were opposed to Roose­
velt's election. Even the New York Times came out forvTillkie. But I think 
he kept his a}>plomb very well. Imean, he never made any bitter attacks on 
the press as Nixon has done. 

Q Hell, any other stories that you can recall? I remember I read one--you 
wrote an article in 1969 about--of course this is history, but I wanted to-­
about this scandal of this girl held in a park for two weeks, in 1881? I 
was wondering in how you were interested to write that little editorial, if 
you recall anything about that. 

A Hell, to tell you the truth, I don't recall it. A girl held captive in a 
park? 

Q Yeah. It Has in 1881 and it was a big scandal, a big sex scandal, because 
of the fact of Hhat the police Here doing or something--I didn't quite. 

A Hell, I tell you how I get some of rrry historical columns. I go through some 
old papers, which ~'re have a file at the Nei-ls Journal, and I just look up a 
story that caused a sensation at the time, see. And then I'll check it out 
Nith other histories and other papers and throw together a story of rrry own 
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about the whole thing. Nnw, I did have--when I was police reporter I had a 
very interesting case in which I was supposed to be an undercover detective. 
There was a woman named Bessie Faulkner who married a man named Klair, and 
the Garrick Theater then had vaudeville--it was called DockstaderiS~ be­
cause it was on the Dockstader circuit of vaudeville. And this man was a 
song and dance man in a vaudeville act. But he met this local woman named 
Faulkner and his name was Klair, and he married--they got married, and lived 
fairly happily until 1<forId Har I came along and. he was sent over,seas. And 
when he came home--he had one daughter by her, Pearl IQair--and when he came 
home he was tipped off by some friends to go out along the Brandywine near 
Rockland and see what he could see. So he went out and he found his wife and 
a man named Victor Seichepine, young fellow ••. 

Q How do you spell his name? 

A S-e-i-c-h-e-p-i-n-e. He was from a French family. I int8rviewed his father, 
who spoke with a very broken accent and lived in Rockland, later. ifell they 
were caught in flagran~delicto, so instead of Klair doing the normal thing 
and shooting Seichepine, he went up the river and shot himself. So this 
}'frs. Klair then married Victor Seichepine. And as time went on, they had two 
children, Rowena and Victor. And then the father died under suspicious or 
let's say unusual circumstances. He was in perfect health and he suddenly 
died, but they said natural causes and buried him. And six months later Rowena 
died. \~ell, now, my father was an insurance man, and he had insured RovTena 
with the top amount of insurance on a child. And you could only insure--law­
fully insure--a child in one insurance company. But they found that she was 
insured top in six insurance companies. Now he tipped me off to this, see. 
And of course the insurance companies were--so I was in on the very beginning 
of it. And I went to the police, and--not much of this story ever got in the 
paper, but I got some pretty good stories out of it. The police said, "\'Jell, 
how are we gonna prove--we can get her for too much insurance, but how are we 
gonna prove that she killed the child?" Well, the thing went on, and Percy 
Warren Green, the attorney general, finally ordered exhumation of Rowena and 
Victor. And they found that their bodies were filled with arsenic, enough to 
cause instant death, practically. So since she had gotten a lot of insurance 
on her husband and a lot of insurance on her younger daughter, why this was 
obviously a case that the police had to investigate. l~ell, this Pearl Klair 
was the most beautiful girl--she was about 17 at the time, or 16, I guess, 
maybe--she was the most beautiful girl I've seen in years--I was almost gonna 
say ever saw. So I went around to the house to talk to Hrs. Seichepine and 
Pearl was there and--this was before I was married, naturally--and I thought, 
"My God, that t s a beautiful gal." And all of my eyes were for Pearl, see. 
1;Jell, Bessie was very friendly and so forth, and she just thought it was won­
derful to have a reporter come around and see her. And it ended up by my ask­
ing Pearl for a date, and Pearl said, ''Why, sure." So I took Pearl--my father 
told me, '~nder no circumstances if you go to that Seichepine house drink or 
eat anything." I took Pearl to a dance at Delaware. I was • 

[End of side oneJ 

Q O.K., so you were on your first date Hith Pearl •.. 

A Yeah. Ive1l, I took her to the Uni versi ty of Delaware and the other dance, 
and people's eyes bugged out at this beautiful girl that I had discovered. 
She may have been 16, but she looked older. However, her con*ryation was 
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not--I mean, she was a rather stupid girl, let's say. But anyhow, to get back 
to the--I went around to the house fairly regularly and the sergeant of detec­
tives called me and said, ',\1e know you're following up this story and you know 
as much about it as we do, but we cannot--this woman has hired a top lawyer and 
we can't press any charges against her unless we have some evidence. We have 
no evidence that she gave the poison to her husband and her child." He said, 
"Can't you arrange a date with Pearl when the old lady's not there and go through 
the house and search for poison?" So I said, ''1,1ell, I'll try." And so one day 
I was looking through the house for poison and--not telling Pearl what I was 
looking for--and I said, "I got a headache, have you, got any aspirin, II see. And 
Pearl said, I~..rell, we'll go look." And we went all around the house and Bessie 
came in. And that scared me to death 'cause I figured she'd know what I was 
looking for. And she took me aside and she says, "I don't think I approve of 
your going around dating my daughter," She said, "She's entirely too young for 
you. " She said, "You must be 26 or so and she's only 16." But she says, "I 
could give you a good time. II She was in her 40's, see. \1ell, in that time that 
seemed to be an old lady to me. But, well, she scared me to death. And see, 
I was still wearing a Theta Chi fraternity pin, I don't know why. But she said, 
"Give me that pin, I want to see it. It So I gave it to her. And she said, "I'm 
gonna keep it. II Well, I was scared enough to say, "All right, all right, I'm 
not gonna argue with you." And I got out of there and went back and reported 
to the police I couldn't find any poison but I was in a jam. So the thing went 
on. They said, I~ell, fine. We've got her as larcenies bailee and if we once 
get her on any charge and bring her in here, we can question her on the other, 
see. But we gotta have a charge against her, some reason." So they told me 
to go back the next day. I went back the next day and insisted that she give 
me back my fraternity pin. She said, "Oh, you naughty boy, here it is." So 
the case dropped there. Hell, I finally decided that the best thing to do 
was to stay away from that house. I wasn't getting any story and I wasn't get­
ting anything else, except in a jam. So the case more or less dropped. But 
about a year later she was found--Mrs. Seichepine was found unconcious in the 
cemetery on the grave of her daughter Rowena. So we decided that that was a 
big story, and decided that the whole story was gonna break again. But she 
was taken to the hospital and when she came to, she said she had a stroke or 
something while she was putting flowers on the grave, and she really did put 
flowers on the grave at regular intervals--they checked that and found that 
she did. And it wasn't remorse or a.l'lYthing. So there was no case there. ~j ell 
to end up the story, this Pearl Klai~ went to Hollywood and became a movie star 
known as Bonnie Blair. And she had minor roles, but she did all right. 

One other little incident which is of no importance to the history of journal­
ism, but years later when I was married and had two children and was city 
edi tor, I got a nhone call. And she said, "Emmie, this is your old girl 
fr;'nd, Bonnie, Lair, that you knew as Pearl Klair." lmd she said, "I'm in 
town at the Hotel DuPont," she said, "I want you to squire me around to the 
night spots in l'iilmington. I'll be waiting for you." I said, "I'm sorry but 
I'm too busy. I can't do a thing about it." Hell, that was a minor thing, 
but it was. • • . 

Q l'Jell, they never convicted the woman. 

A No, as far as I know, she's still living, although I haven't heard from either 
bonnie Blair or !1rs. Seichepine for--oh, since the 1950's. 

Q Any other big stories that you reported that you can remember? 
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A Hell, when I viaS a reporter, there were a number of--I was in the police sta­
tion one afternoon and a phone call came in , there was a murder down at 
'rhird and Lombard. So this was before they had radio cars--I mean, well radio 
cars, so instead of calling out for a radio car to go to the scene, they al­
ways had two reserve cops in the police station which they sent out. So this 
reserve cop, Bill Colonna. said, "Come on, Emmie, let's go." And we rushed 
out and got in a car in the courtyard and drove down to Third and Lombard. 
He walked into the store. And there was a man lying dead across the counter-­
at the foot of the counter. And Colonna started--there were somE.. people out­
side that had come into the store, Colonna got the people out of the store and 
started looking at the body and I walked into the rear storage room, and I 
yelled, "Heh, Bill, there's another one:" And there was another man in there 
who had been shot and killed. \'1el1, that became a--that, by the way, was one 
of the few stories in those days in which we had a picture, because we had no 
photographer. But we called Sanborn's studio and he sent over a man who took 
pictures of the bodies and the site and so forth. The case became famoust be­
cause it was three gangsters in Philadelphia who had--this storekeeper and his 
helper had been--it was part of the Mafia, and they were engaged in gambling 
of some sort and had failed to payoff. And they captured the three guys in 
Phil adel ph i3. and it was quite a long drawn-out murder case. By the way, I 
also covered a murder case in the Superior Court of a woman, an Italian woman 
who got in touch Hith Murder Incorporated in New York and they had sent down 
a man who had murdered her husband. That was a trial in which the man--the man 
was found guilty and hanged. It was in the 1930's. 

I saw a hanging, by the way, and one--while it wasn't a traumatic experience, 
one was enough. I had opportunities to go to other hangings, but I didn't. 
This was a man who raped an eight-year-old girl in Brandywine Park. And I 
covered the trial and the sensation of the trial was there was a reporter on 
the Sunday Star--the reporters could sit up in the press box at the courtroom, 
which meant inside the little fenc€ which keeps the people out. Well, this 
reporter, Vance from the Sunday star, it was his niece who had been raped. 
And so at one time during the trial he jumped out of his seat and went over 
and gave the defendant a black eye. vlell, of course he was in contempt of 
court and there was quite a struggle as to whether he would go to jail for 
tha t. But they let him off with a $500 fine. And well, the man was found 
guilty and sentenced to--and I was told to go out and witness the hanging. 

Q lvhere were the hangings done? 

A The hangings were done in the courtyard of the old workhouse at Greenbank. 
So I went out. Father Tucker--this man was not a Catholic; he said he was a 
complete atheist; he wouldn't have anything to do with any of the Protestant 
ministers that came in--but Father Tucker went in and took him cigarettes 
and so he said., "VIell, as long as you bring me cigarettes you can come and 
see me." And. he was a mess, this guy--big hefty white man. So I was stand­
ing aloneside of Father--no, wait a minute, standing in the crowd and then 
they brought him down the- it was a long corridor to the courtyard. Hell , 
the guards and Father Tucker came with him and then Father Tucker went with 
him to the bottom of the steps to the scaffold. And he said, "You stay here," 
to Father Tucker, and h8 ran up the steps. So Father Tucker came over and 
stood alongside 6f me. Hell, they put the hood over him and asked him if he 
had any last words, which they always did in those days, and he said, "No," 
and they hanged him. But something went wrong, and the rope caught here and 
something, so that great masses of blood came out from his chin and just 
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got sick. I was feeling not too good myself, but I didn't. 

And then I also attended some whippings, lashings, at the workhouse, cecause 
when I was covering the courts, Friday, once a month--or it was Saturday .•• 
yes, hangings were on Fridays and whippings were on Saturday •.• of course it 
wasn't every Friday, but whenever a hanging did occur, it always occurred on 
Friday, why I don't know--but the whippings occurred on Saturday. and it was 
about once a month. Now the whippings that I saw, the story is generally ac­
cepted that only Negroes were lashed, or at least the great majority of those 
lashed were Negroes. The whippings I saw. I would say the majority were white. 
It was unusual, and some of the biggest, strongest men would cry out; some of 
the smallest, weakest looking ones would never utter a sound. But the one that 
really turned my stomach was they had a one-armed man, and of course they 
manacled them to the post. Well, he only had it for one arm, see, so when they 
whipped him he would squirm and the whip would come around and hit him--put a 
gash in his stomach ••. not a gash, but a welt--and I thought that was cruel 
and inhuman. Now as for lashing in particular, in general I think it is more 
or less inhuman, but like the former president of the company, Henry T. Klaus, 
I think it is a deterrent. And I'm not sure • • • 

Q vIas the public allowed to see these things? 

A No, the public was not admitted, but you could get a permit to go to a whip­
ping. Not every application was approved, but reporters could go at any time. 
You had to get a press pass, but you just went to the clerk of the peace and 
asked for one and there was never any question about not getting one. 

Q How severely were these men whipped? Here they whipped to • • • 

A They would raise large welts, but rarely if ever did they break the skin. 
NOli in the old days, the Colonial days, or even post-Civil Har days, thp.y 
would give the prisoner 40 lashes and he'd take the ItO lashes all at a time, 
but in recent years, I mean from 1910 on--well, 1920 on, let's say--they made 
the maximum lashes 20 lashes and then they gave 'em 10 one week and 10 the next 
week. And they were immediately sent to the infirmary and the welts were worked 
on, anc1 so forth. It was Harden Plummer who--back in the '20's--who mad.e it 
less barbarous, the whippings less barbarous than they had been before. He got 
a ruling that the man dOing the vThipping--which was the warden • • • 

Q The warden did the whipping? 

A The warden did the whipping, yeah, required by law. He wouldn't bend his elbow, 
he'd keep it straight. And in the old days they went this way, see, but they 
did not do that after Harden Plummer. 

Q ;flho did the hanging? Did they have a man employed to do that? 

A \Jell, actUc.'1lly, we don't know. Nobody ever knew because there was a man in the 
back out of sight who pulled the lever that let the hanging occur. However, 
the warden had to give the sign for him to pull the lever. Now, whether you 
could say the warden did the hanging or the man who pulled the lever did the 
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hanging. The vrarden always felt it vras the man who pulled the lever. Now who 
he vras nobody ever kneH, 'cause he vras out of sight. 

Q Now, did the newspapers report these every week--people who were whipped and 
hanged? 

A Yeah. Urn hrom. Oh, yes, a hanging was a big front page story with a complete 
description of the person's reaction. And of course if he gave a speech from 
the scaffold as they often did, sometimes saying that they were guilty and 
they Here going to heaven because they had made themselves good with God and 
so forth. Other times men screaming 'til the last, "I'm innocent." But I 
mean, I knoH that from stories. The only one I saw, the man said nothing, and 
that's the only hanging I attended. Now a fellow named McCloud, Norman McCloud, 
a reporter on the paper, went to every hanging, including those in Georgetown, 
and alHays stayed to get a piece of the rope for a souvenir. That turned me 
off. 

Another macabre part of being a police reporter, you had to go into the morgue. 
And so I saw most of the dead persons who were murdered or killed in automobile 
accidents and so forth. There Has one man who was pulled out of Shellpot Creek, 
and the coroner showed me--Hell, I was there for the autopsy. He had been tor­
tured to death with an ice pick, had been stabbed but not enough to kill him. 
And you could see these little tiny marks allover his chest until finally they 
had killed him. But the coroner said--or the medical examiner said it must 
have taken an hour for him to die, in intense pain. Well, that was another 
gang slaying. They found that he'd been killed in Pennsylvania and brought 
down and dumped in Delaware. And the actual man responsible for it was a mem­
ber of the Hafia in Atlantic City. I don't really remember how that case 
turned out. 1 didn't cover the trial or anything. 1 reported the finding of-­
or' the arrest. because that was about the time 1 was transferred from police 
to politics. But I did see the body. Oh, and there was another horrible case. 
1 was on one of those late police affairs, a Sunday night. And they got a call 
that there was a bad accident on the Philadelphia Pike. tiell, that was state 
police territory but the state police had called in for extra city police to 
handle the crowds that had gathered around. So 1 went out with the police car, 
it was about 2:00 in the morning, and that was the most horrible scene I've 
fOlmd--that I ever encountered. It was a party from Chester who had gone to 
one of the beach resorts on a joy ride in an open truck with a bunch of straw 
in it. And there must have been twenty or thirty people in that straw. And 
as they were going home up the Philadelphia Pike, there was a big truck loaded 
wi th flammable gas that collided 1'lith them. And the flammable gas went all 
over into the truck. So there were 16 persons burned to death in that truck. 
And the rest were all badly injured. So by the time 1--1 wore a white linen 
suit in those days, which vfere very common--when I got out of the police car, 
a bunch of cops rushed over ani said, "Doctor, this way, this way," because 
there Here a lot of wounded laying around and ambulances were just arriving, 
and so forth. But that was a very horrible sight. You could see the bodies 
burning in the truck and you COUldn't get near the truck because it was just 
one mass of f1ames. 

But I think the most enjoyable years of my life were those just before retire­
ment when I 1'laS more or less independent to do as I pleased and could concen­
trate on this historical writing. 
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Did you have mu~ cause--well, you consult histories, standard histories that 
scholars have written, and a lot of time I think reporters sort of deprecate 
the work that scholars do because it's generally--because it's scholarly it 
doesn't have a Hide readership. And do you see yourself as sort of translating 
a scholar's work into a more popular medium in writing newspaper stories about 
history? 

Hell, yes and no, because I don't agree that scholarly Horks are so dense that 
the general public can't appreciate 'em. I think that John Hunroe's books are 
as good--I mean, as easily read as any neHspaper story, myself, and quite as 
fascinating. NOH some get a little dry I admit, but no • 

Are there any other Delaware historians that you consult, or that you think 
have written very well? I tm thin..1<ing of people like Harold Hancock or 

Yeah, Harold Hancock I know very well and I like his work. Henry Clay Reed 
and I were old friends of lon~standing. Henry--or Clay, he generally called 
himself, was a little on the dense side--I mean in his writing. certainly not 
in his mind. And I don't think that his history--the three volume history--
is of any good consequence. Of course he didn't write that himself. He had 
other people write it. But there is a lot in it that is inexact. I found 
that--like Scharf's history is the standard history of Delaware. But you'll 
find he contradicts himself and is inaccurate in a number of places. But 
whenever I find that there's something I want to write about, I check all these 
sources before I write it, and in some cases you just have to decide for your­
self who's right and who's .. rrong, see. 

Here you ever engaged in any primary research yourself? 

Oh, yes, I've written a book on Fort Delaware which was published by the 
University of Delaware Press. And there I went down to the archives and dug 
quite a bit of the stuff up, and of course I have a lot of manuscript diaries 
of prisoners and a Hhole mess of letters written by prisoners, Right now I'm 
editing the diaries of Phoebe George Bradford, who lived in "VIilmington from-­
well, the diaries are from 1833 to 1839. I'm doing this for the Historical 
:30ciety. She was upper class and knew all the better people of Wilmington who ;1,.1" i r 

she mentions frequently in the diaries, and so it's fascinating digging up these lvq/ 

people when she just S3.ys "Nrs. fv1illigan." You wonder who in the hell was Hrs. 
Hilligan. But you find that she was Hrs. John Ni1ligan, the wife of the United" 
States representative. And she had Nrs. Hil-l:id&fle over, well loTrs. ~;lV(,~hdc~ 'n 
was the wife of Arnold ~, the United states senator in those days. Now. 
you get some hint from the context, but in other cases--in some cases I'm stymied 
completely. She mentions a Vr. Chandler, and I thought I had him located, but 
all the Chandlers I've found don 't fit. She says !vIr. Chandler died in 1834, and 
I can't find any i'ir. Chandler that died in 1831+. But I didn't intend to be a 
newspaperman when I started out. I hoped to go into foreign service and do a. 
lot of traveling. But riVe never regretted a. minute of being a newspaperman. 
I've enjoyed every minute of it. If ell. not every minute. because there .rere 
times vrhen things weren't going exactly right. but I mean every year of it I've 
enjoyed. and I vrould--of course newspaper vrork and the papers are quite differ-
ent now from what they were when I started. In many ways they're all for the 
better. and in some other ways. I don't know. 

Hhen did you sort of retire? 
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II In September of '72. NOH, for instance, I Has a Democrat--I mean, I was cover­
ine; Democratic politics, and Charlie Baker Has covering Republican politics, 
These are the troubles you get into sometimes. vIell, Charlie Baker was sick 
Hith coli tis, so they told--the city editor said to me, "Go see Mayor Bacon 
because he has an important Republican story." So I went to see ~layor Bacon and 
he gave me the story that James R. Horford Has the candidate for attorney gen­
eral. And he v-Tas very very reluctant to give me the story, because he says, 
"I knoH you as a Democrat and you Hill mess this story up, I know." I said, 
"Hay or , I lean over bacbrards in covering political stories to be accurate. 
Hy opinions are of no consequence." I made that a strong point, that you 
wouldn't color a story under any circumstances in those days. They do it today, 
but we didn't in those day s. Ti! ell, the next day the story came out, and an im­
portant thing was that he had said that Jim r·10rford was not in favor of a cer­
tain thing, I forget what--it was one of the big issues of the campaign. No, 
he said that Jim Horford Has in favor of it, and the story came out and said 
tha t ,Jim Horford vms not in favor of it. Hell, when I came in I was breathing 
fire, because I knew vThat would happen, see. And the city editor said, "Oh, 
I edited that copy and I read it IITOng and I put that not in." I went to see 
Hayor Bacon the next day, and he said, "I told you you would mess that story 
up. Hhy did you do it?" I said, "I dj.dn't do it; it was done on the desk." 
He said, "I don't believe it." l:J ell, I got Carl lIise to call him and tell him 
that it Has his fault, not mine. But Nayor Bacon never believed that, and he 
never ga.ve me another story or allowed me to interview him until his death. 
And he Hent on to become governor and so forth. 

Q ITOH we Here talking about the organization of the paper, and the executjve 
editor was the one who initiated policy, is this right? 

A 'That's right. 

Q A.nd He got it up to--well, this Yerxa, Has he ..• 

A IT'endall Yerxa, he came here--he Has the city editor of the NeH York Herald 
J'ribune and he came here in the 1950's, and he changed the paper around com­
pletely, and hired more men, liberalized policy, but he left in 1960 to re­
turn to the Herald 'rribune because the faction in control of the paper which 
had lost out and caused him to lose his job in the first place had regained 
control and he went b::1.ck. HOHever he Hasn't long at the Herald Tribune Hhen 
he ,<Tent bad': before the Herald Tribune folded. Since then he's been an ABC 
neHS commentator and he's nOH vdth the New York Times, \Jashington Bureau. 
Now he Has succeedAd by Creed Bl2,ck, and Creed Black Has responsible for most 
of the changes Hhich have occurred. 

Q Hhere did he come from? 

A He came from Savannah, Georgia, Hhere he Has executive editor, but he'd been 
executive editor in Knoxville, Tennessee. ~J ell, he changed things around con­
siderably. He caused--Hhere it used to be the city editor and assistant city 
editor, he caused to be a metropolitan editor and named a number of assistants 
to the metropolitan editor and greatly increased the staff. And he changed the 
policy of the paper to print everything about the DuPonts, and even dared to 
a.tta.ck the University of DelaHare. NOH, President. Perkins of the Uni versi ty of 
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Delaware objected strenuously to this. And I remember attending a conference in 
the Hotel DuPont between the trustees and the president of the University of 
Delaware and some of the directors of the Christiana Securities Company and the 
top staff of the paper, in which the paper was told to layoff the University of 
Delaware. And Creed Black said he didn't intend to. So shortly after that 
Hen17 B. DuPont announced that there would be a new executive vice president of 
the company, Charles Hackett, who would come dmm from DuPont public relations 
and have complete editorial control of the paper. So with that, Creed Black re­
signed. Now, despite the changes he made .•• 

Hhen did he resign? 

1960. Oh, 1960--well, he came here in 1960, And he was here about four years, 
so I'd. say about 1964. Now, he was no t popular with the staff, because he was 
a--although he had some good ideas, he l"as a martinet and a cruel administrator. 
For instance, he fired four members of the News Journal staff--I mean of the 
Horning News Staff peremptorily and without cause other than they had been given 
psychiatric tests and were told that they were not fitted for the position, de­
spite the fact that one guy had been there for more than 15 years. That was 
Lou Gerlach, and Paul fv1cConemy had been there for about 10 years, he was a re­
porter, and Herb Seiffert was a desk man. And he did fire Jack Gibbons, who .........---
was the top political reporter of the day, because he claimed Gibbons was tak-
ing money in a public relations job on the side, which he had said that you 
couldn't do. But it had been done years before that because for instance I was 
the Hilmineton correspondent for the Philadelphia Record and the IIilmington 
correspondent for the Hew York Times, and--Delaware correspondent for the New 
York Times and Delaware correspondent for the Associated Press. And that was 
additional money that you were getting, see. They paid you so much for a col­
umn, \-Ih&t they printed. But Gibbons was doing a public relations for the air­
port, so he was fired. So this did not make Creed Black very popular with the 
sta.ff, because no one felt secure. Now, when he left Hackett became executive 
editor and vice president, and Hackett was an old Hilmington newspaperman '"ho 
had been e(~i tor of the ~)unday Star before he went Hi th DuPont public relati ons, 
and he broueht the paper back to normalcy. He was rather conservative, but 
never killed any stories. I remember I Ha.S frantic to save the old Custom 
House, and Henry B. DuPont, Hho had given him this job on the News Journal was 
one of the leaders to tear it dmm. So he called me in, Chick, and said, "Em­
mie, be careful 1-That you write about the Custom House." I said, "Are you cut­
tin' me off?" He says, "No, but any stories in the future you'll have to give 
to me to read before they're printed." And they were printed after that. But 
in other words, he went back to a conservative. And then Sanger came on, and 
the paper as it exists today--well, when Sanger became president, he announced 
that it Has an entirely neH ball game. And it certainly has been an entirely 
new ball game. They've increased the number of photographers, the number of 
reporters so that it just doesn't, seem sensible to an old-timer like me. And 
of course they've gone far out in a liberal policy--even dared to support Demo­
crats for elecHon--Hhich the OHners of the paper -- the editorial page came 
out in favor of Democrats and on the editoria.t page was a notice from the 
OHners of the paper coming out for the Republicans. No, there's been a tre­
mendous number of chanGes caused by Sanger a~l John Craig. the executive edi­
tor. 

:':OH, ire were talking about corre~pondents. As I say. Hhen I was a very young 
reporter, Charles Gray Has the managing editor, and he was the correspondent 
~:'or the Philade~~'p,h:l~. Publi.c Led.ger, and he, '",signed. me to cover the Ramsey 
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trial in Superior Court. This was a trial for alienation of affections age.inst 
a r;rs. Ramsey. Hho was either a DuPont in-laH, or the wife of a very high Du­
Pont official, Hho lived in a chateau out in chateau country and whose son 
had married a chorus girl from New York. And he brought her home and Hrs. 
Ramsey made life miserable for her, and eventually they broke up. So the 
chorus girl sued for alienation of affections. James TL Norford, who was 
later attorney general of Delaware, was the chorus girl's representative-­
attorney. And it was a sensational trial because it brought out a lot of-­
washed a lot of dirty linen in public. And I sat there and copied--wrote a 
complete story columns long, each day, and took it back to the paper. And 
that story appeared in the Philadelphia Public Ledger word for word, but there 
never Has a ,vord printed in the ~1orning News. And when I asked the manaeing 
editor why, he said, ''\';ell, goodness. He can't print stories about the Du­
ponts." And when I asked him if I couldn't get some extra pay for all these 
stories in the Philadelphia papers, he said, "You're getting your regular pay 
from the 1'le1-1S Journal, and you're not the correspondent for the Philadelphia 
Public Ledger." So that was the sort of thing that went on in the early days 
of the paper. 

Q Hell, Creed Black, then would be the one who sort of would initiate the 
changes, liberalizing the paper, and 

,~ Yeah. That's right. It was Creed Black also who insisted everyone take--no, 
F'endall Yerxes started it, but it never got underway--tha t everyone take psy­
chiatric tests on aptitude for their jobs. It was the result of these psychi­
atric tests that Creed Black fired these three men. He was also--he planned 
to fire a similar number on the evening paper, but Elmer Cunningham blew his 
top when he heard--first it was to be the Norning News crowd would go, and 
then a week later the Journal crowd. But Elmer Cunningham, the managing edi­
tor of the evening paper, said that if they did anything like that on his staff, 
he would resign. And there was a tremendous reaction against this, so that 
there were no firings on the Journa~. 

Q Can you recall anything about rival papers in Hilmington? You mentioned the 
Sunday paper at various times. vThat kind of paper was that? 

A Oh, the Sunday Star was down at 2nd and Shipley Street. Joe Nartin Has the 
editor. And it printed news of what occurred on Saturday, but it vras noted 
for its features. It had a magazine section. They had some stories on Dela­
ware history which sometimes were more legendary than historical. But it was 
read fairly well because \;right Dizer ran a political column and there were 
other columns in the paper which were read pretty avidly. Because vlright 
really got--well, he was a Idnd of sour individual. He could never see any 
good in anyone, but he certainly dug up an awful lot of stuff against a lot of 
people, So you never could tell vrhat was gonna be in his column. Now, vrhen 
I first started on the paper, we vlOrked six days a week, 72 hours, I told you 
the time, and yet there Here reporters on the rf;orning NeHs 'l-1ho Hould go dOHn 
on the Sund?iY star and "IOrk on Saturday, the ir only day off, for ;j; 5.00 a day. 
And they 1-1Ould be ,vorking seven days a Vleek. Then Vlhen I first vrent on the 
paper, there was the Every Evening and the ENenin.,g Journal were rivals, and 
we were on the Horning News. ~'J ell, we felt that there was--Hell, He were kind 
of low on the tOigm pole because we had to compete against both the Evening 
Journal 2.nd the Every Evening, and if the Every Evening beat the Evening Journal, 
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they also probably beat us, because--in other words, each day when you went in, 
you shook to see whether the Journal had picked up a story that had occurred 
the night before and that you had missed. However, that only went on for three 
years and then it was the Journal Every Evening when they combined. But there 
still was an intense rivalry between the papers. lJ e spent more time trying to 
find out something that happened in the morning that the Journal missed than 
you would believe possible. And they of course tried to find something that 
happened in the evening and beat the ~10rning News. Now, I think it was good 
because it kept everybody on their toes and when they combined the papers, I 
think it was under Creed Black, and made it one staff, so that a reporter 
writes a story, if he's an old Morning News man, he'll vrrite it for the Morning 
News, and then be astonished when it appears three days later in the ~vening 
Journal. And there's still a few old-timers left. And you never know what 
paper it's gonna appear in. And it used to be that you just had to be on top 
of a story and you had to print it the very night that it happened--it had to 
be in the paper the next day. Now, quite often something that happens at 
night will appear two days later in the Evening Journal as having happened 
last Tuesday. This is not true of the police stories, but I mean of meetings 
and lectures and so forth. So therefore rivalry is out now. And there's no-­
that whole feeling of getting out and showing the other guy that you can beat 
him is gone. And I don't want to be too critical of the paper, but I walk in 
-Lhere now and see this tremendous number of reporters sitting around doing 
nothing--certainly they didn't do that in my day. Bill Frank was complaining 
about that too. 

Q Any other papers that were in Hilmington during your time? 

A \'Jell, there was the IJabor Herald, which came out once a \ieek. It not only had 
labor news, but it had political news as well. 

Q Did you read that regularly? 

A Oh, yeah, we always read the Labor Herald when it came out--I think it came 
out on Thursday. And it had some very good columnists. But they were the 
only three newspapers. And of course then most of my time it's been only two, 
and both owned by the same company. l-lhen they first merged, the Every ~vening 
came down to the News .Journal for a while, then they moved up to the Every 
Evening Building and the Morning News was alone in the old building at 4th and 
Shipley. And they tried to more or less go along on its own, but that didn't 
work, so we finally went up to the present building. I remember--what made me 
think of that is I came back from vacaUon and went to the old building at ll-th 
and Shipley and found it was locked. I thought, '~Jhat on earth's going on." 
And then the watchman told me that they'd moved everything up to the new build­
ing. 

Q \Tell, I think we've covered about all of it that I can think of. Can you 
recommend anyone else that I might talk to that would know the history of the 
paper, who had worked on it for a long time? I know--I Has gonna talk to 
CaufIDr'1n, ;=)am Caufman, I don't know, and also Carl IHse, Who's in Rehoboth nOli, 
evidently, and Lee Reese. But there aren't that many people--you know, old­
timers, ifho are still around that worked on the paper. Unless you could think 
of someone that might still be around. 

A No. Carl Hise Has on both papers. I was only on the Horning News. And 
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Caufmc:'.D Has on both the Even Ev':ming and the Norning News. 

Q Here you ever involved in r2.dio or '1'.'/. in IIilmington? 

A Yes and no. Along about l<)Jl, ;:illard ldlson had HDEL, and in those day people 
D-X'd on radio. D-Xing Has hunting for California stations or long-distance 
stations, see, farm'l'ay. Hell, people in California liked to D-X too, but 
generally the eastern stations Hould go off before you could receive them in 
California, because you only received long distance at night. And so he had 
an all night program and he thought that HDF.L might be heard even abroad. So 
I had had this year in J:i'rance, and he asked me to serve as announcer for a 
half-hour program in F~ench. So that was my only--I'd forgotten about it com­
pletely until Hillard \..[ilson recently brought me in a picture of that 8.ffair. 
And this was before I retired and I ran a feature story for him onthe 50th 
anniversary of HDEL. Their studio was in the old Odd Fellows Building. 

Q You mentioned that you didn't take your own pictures when you went out on a 
story as a reporter. 

i\ Oh, no. He don't now. 

Q Hight, you don't nOH, but did you do that back then? 

A. Never. 

Q You hired Sanborn or commissioned Sanborn . • • 

A Sanborn until we got a photographer, Charlie fv1encker. { 

Q And ",hen did he start, do you remember? 

A He started about 1935 or 1936, along in there. Then he Has mostly on the-­
well, he worked daytime hours. So the Horning News rarely used him. And the 
worse trouble was that we had no engraving plant. So if you took a picture 
at night, and you had the picture, the trouble was getting it engraved. The 
Globe Engraving Company worked during the daytime, but they--and they would 
come in on call at night, but they were very sour about having to work over­
time, and so unless you had a really worthwhile picture, you tended not to call 
them. Now this went on until I guess it must have been the 1950's--I think it 
waS under F'endall Yerxa, I may be wrong, but I think it was Fendall Yerxa who 
installed, or leased a machine that made its own engravings. But then they 
did away with that in the late 1960's and built a huge engraving plant in the 
building itself. And so now they do an awful lot of engraving of advertise­
ments and other things other than just pictures. It's a full-time operation 
nOH. And of course we get our Hire-photos. life had a wire-photo machine put 
in. I think that was under Yerxa. Before th~t you had to depend on mats, 
and the mats were mailed from Philadelphia at 7:00 at night, and they arrived 
in the Hevw Journal office at around 10 :00, or you had to send a messenger 
over at the post office to pick 'em up. They v/ere sent down on a train, special 
delivery mail, and delivered to the post office, but we always had an office boy 
over there Haitinc for those -mats. And if they didn't come in, you had to run 
it without a picture, Hhich was very irritating for a managing editor. .And I 
may have forgotten to tell you that the managing editor for a time Has an 
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executive, and after the city editor got a five-day Heek, well the ma.naginc; 
editor continued on a six-day week for a time, and then he had--he decided he 
needed a five-day 1wek. So I Has city editor four days a week, and on Sundays-­
I had ?riday off and Saturday off, and was managing editor on ~5unday, which was 
his day off. And I remember--the managing editor of course makes up the front 
page, and I remember how troublesome it was getting pictures for the front page. 
lmd I went to this--Dick Renard, who was city editor of the Journal Every Even­
ing for quite a long time, and I went to an American Press Seminar at Columbia 
for two weeks in 1950. And that was a very very interesting affair. He learned 
an awful lot, and we came back with a whole list of recommendations. And the 
company had paid all our expenses at this seminar--that was in 1950--but they 
ignored every one of the recommendations for changes that we made. Although 
all of those recommendations have since been carried out, but they weren't car­
ried out for at least five years after we were at the press seminar. And I 
remember I --oh, and then I was managing editor 1-rhenever the managing edi tor 
went on vacation or was sick. I remember one time as manaeing editor the 
Andrea Doria ran into the Stockholm or the [inaudible J and the Andrea Doria 
sa ... nI~. II • • 

[mm OF TArE AND INTEHVIE\! J 
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